InSite™ CSL Configuration Tool





User's Guide

© METTLER TOLEDO 2014

No part of this manual may be reproduced or transmitted in any form or by any means, electronic or mechanical, including photocopying and recording, for any purpose without the express written permission of METTLER TOLEDO.

U.S. Government Restricted Rights: This documentation is furnished with Restricted Rights.

Copyright 2014 METTLER TOLEDO. This documentation contains proprietary information of METTLER TOLEDO. It may not be copied in whole or in part without the express written consent of METTLER TOLEDO.

METTLER TOLEDO reserves the right to make refinements or changes to the product or manual without notice.

COPYRIGHT

METTLER TOLEDO[®] is a registered trademark of Mettler-Toledo, LLC. All other brand or product names are trademarks or registered trademarks of their respective companies.

METTLER TOLEDO RESERVES THE RIGHT TO MAKE REFINEMENTS OR CHANGES WITHOUT NOTICE.

Note

This documentation is provided solely as a guide for individuals who have received Technical Training in servicing the METTLER TOLEDO terminal & software products. For information, locate the closest authorized METTLER TOLEDO representative at the METTLER TOLEDO website, <u>www.mt.com</u>.

This documentation correctly describes the operation and functionality of the InSite[®] software versions as follows:

Revision	Date
1.4.00	February 2014
1.3.04	September 2013
1.2.26	January 2013
1.2.09	June 2012
1.0.06	August 2011

Contents

1	Installation1-1
1.1.	System Requirements1-1
1.1.1.	O/S requirements1-1
1.1.2.	Hardware requirements
1.1.3.	Software requirements
1.2.	Release Notes 1-1
1.3.	Installation Procedure
1.4.	InSite Install Script Procedure
1.4.1.	After Installation is Complete1-6
1.5.	Support Information
2	Configuration Tool2-1
2.1.	InSite CSL Overview2-1
2.2.	Supported Devices
2.3.	Starting the software
2.4.	Screen layout overview
2.4.1.	Toolbar tabs
2.4.2.	Product selection frame
2.4.3.	Iree frame
2.4.4.	System line
3	Authentication
31	DSM Overview 3-1
3.1.1.	DSM Features
3.2.	InSite CSL DSM Access
3.3.	InSite CSL File Storage
3.4.	InSite CSL File Retrieval
4	Save/Load
4.1.	Save Terminal File
4.1.1.	Save Procedure
4.1.2.	Using Saved files4-4
4.2.	Load Terminal File
4.2.1.	Load Procedure
5	Disconnected Mode5-1
5.1.	Disconnected Functionality5-1
5.1.1.	Unique Disconnected Mode Features5-2
	Disconnected Made Users

6	Connection Settings	6-1
6.1.	Settings6	6-1
6.1.1.	Changing Settings	6-1
6.1.2.	Terminal Connection types	6-2
7	Connected Mode	7-1
7.1.	Connected Functionality	7-1
7.1.1.	Reading Configuration from a Terminal	7-3
7.1.2.	Review / Change Configuration	7-3
7.1.3.	Saving Terminal Configuration (InSite File)	7-3
7.1.4.	Writing Terminal Configuration	/-4
7.2.	Special Operations	7-4
7.2.1.	Template Editor	7-5
1.2.2. 7.2.2	Solikeys	7-0 7 7
7.2.3. 724	MT Service Security	7-7 7-8
7.2.5.	Configuration Reports	7-9
7.3.	Connected Mode Usage	-11
8	Template Editor	8-1
81	Starting the Template Editor	8-2
8.1. ຊາ	Adding Toxt to a Tomplato	9_Б 8_Б
0.Z. 821		2-0 8-6
822	String	8-7
8.2.3.	Repeat String	8-8
8.2.4.	Special Character	8-9
8.3.	Adding Shared Data to a Template8-	-10
8.4.	Using My Data8-	-11
9	MT Service Security	9-1
9.1.	Using MT Service Security	9-1
Α	Terminal Connection	A-1
A.1.	IND131 / IND331	A-1
A.1.1.	Configuration & Save/Load	A-1
A.1.2.	Flashing new Firmware	A-1
A.1.3.	Using the SD memory card	A-1
A.2.	IND246	A-3
A.2.1.	Configuration & Save/Load	A-3
A.2.1.1.	Connection	. A-3
A.2.1.2.	Weighing Mode	. A-3
A.2.2.	FIGSNING NEW FIRMWARE	A-3
⊼.∠.∠.⊺. ∧ २		. A-3
л.э.		0

A.3.1.	Configuration & Save/Load	A-3
A.3.1.1.	Ethernet	A-3
A.3.1.2.	Serial	A-4
A.3.2.	Flashing new Firmware	A-4
A.3.2.1.	Ethernet	A-4
A.3.2.2.	Serial	A-4
A.4.	IND560x	A-5
A.4.1.	Configuration & Save/Load	A-5
A.4.1.1.	Ethernet	A-5
A.4.1.2.	Serial	A-5
A.4.2.	Flashing new Firmware	A-5
A.4.2.1.	Ethernet	A-5
A.4.2.2.	Serial	A-5
A.5.	IND780	A-6
A.5.1.	Configuration, Save/Load & Flashing Firmware	A-6
A.6.	ICS Terminals	A-6
A.6.1.	Configuration and Save/Load	A-6

1 Installation

This chapter covers

This chapter contains general information on InSite CSL system requirements and the installation procedure and its options.

System requirementsInstallation procedure

1.1. System Requirements

This section contains details on the system requirements and recommendations, including details on the required hardware and other software needed to run InSite CSL. InSite CSL requires the installation and usage of the technician dashboard so all of its hardware and software requirements must first be met.

1.1.1. O/S requirements

InSite CSL runs on any of the following Windows operating systems:

Windows XP Professional, Windows 7 32-bit

1.1.2. Hardware requirements

Hardware requirements match those of the chosen O/S and the technician dashboard. In addition, InSite CSL requires:

- ~ 57 MB free disk space required (not including .NET)
- Appropriate space for configuration file storage
- Network / Internet access

1.1.3. Software requirements

- Microsoff[®] .Net Framework Version 2.0 (or 3.5 which contains 2.0)
- Technician Dashboard

1.2. Release Notes

For a list of devices supported by the current release of InSite CSL, and a revision history, please refer to the **Release Notes** document.

1.3. Installation Procedure

Installation of the InSite software application is handled through the Technician Dashboard. Once this is installed and the technician is authorized through the DSM user administration, the dashboard will show the InSite CSL icon, indicated at lower right in Figure 1-1. If the software has not been installed yet, clicking this icon will cause the installation process to start. The dashboard manages all installation and update processes.



Figure 1-1: InSite Setup from dashboard

1.4. InSite Install Script Procedure

With either installation method, an installation script is launched. The script leads through a series of dialog windows for the installation process, giving several opportunities to cancel the process before it begins.

InSite - InstallShield Wizard		×						
Welcome to the InstallShield Wizard for InSite								
	The InstallShield® Wizard will install InSite on your computer. To continue, click Next.							
	<back next=""> Cancel</back>							

Figure 1-2: Welcome screen

InSite - InstallShield Wizard		×						
License Agreement Please read the following license agreement carefully.								
Press the PAGE DOWN key to see the res	t of the agreement.							
Mettler-T (hereinafter	Toledo GmbH Mettler-Toledo)	-						
End-User License Agreer In Site 7	ment for METTLER-TOLED ™ Software	0						
IMPORTANT-READ CAREFU	ILLY: Mettler-Toledo's End-	. 💌						
Do you accept all the terms of the precedin select No, the setup will close. To install In agreement. InstallShield	ng License Agreement? If you nSite, you must accept this	Print						
	< Back Yes	No						

Figure 1-3: EULA Acceptance Screen

InSite - Insi	tallShield Wizard			×
Choose D Select fo	Destination Location Ilder where setup will install files.			C
	Install InSite to: C:\Program Files\Mettler Toledo\In	Site5		Change
InstallShield -		< Back	Next >	Cancel

Figure 1-4: Installation Location Path Option

The screen shown in Figure 1-5 allows the selection of products to include. At least one product must be selected.

InSite - InstallShield Wizard			×
Product Selection			C
Select components to install.			
☑ IND780			
IND560x			
☑ IND560			
IND560_PDX			
IND131_331			
☑ IND226x			
🔽 IND130			
🔽 IND135			
CS4x9-6x9			
InstallShield			
	< Back	Next >	Cancel

Figure 1-5: Product Module Selection Option

InSite - InstallShield Wizard			×
Ready to Install the Program			
The wizard is ready to begin installation.			Ψ.
Click Install to begin the installation.			
If you want to review or change any of your ins the wizard.	tallation settings, cl	ick Back, Click C	ancel to exit
InstallShield			
	< Back	Install	Cancel

Figure 1-6: Final Installation Confirmation Screen

Once installation begins, a progress screen is shown (Figure 1-7). This screen will also indicate which component or file is currently being installed.

InSite - InstallShield Wizard	×
Setup Status	
The InstallShield® Wizard is installing InSite	
Installing	
InstallShield	
	Cancel

Figure 1-7: Installation Progress Screen

Once installation is complete, click Finish to close the install script dialog.

InSite - InstallShield Wizard	
	InstallShield Wizard Complete The InstallShield Wizard has successfully installed InSite. Click Finish to exit the wizard.
	< Back Finish Cancel

Figure 1-8: Installation Complete Screen

1.4.1. After Installation is Complete

After the installation is complete, InSite CSL and the selected product modules should be installed on the system. It can be accessed ONLY through the dashboard icon. No shortcut icon is placed on the desktop.



Figure 1-9: InSite CSL Icon on the dashboard

1.5. Support Information

Please contact your local Mettler-Toledo, LLC service office for support.

2 Configuration Tool

This chapter covers

- InSite CSL purpose and features
- List of supported devices

The InSite CSL application is used to manage industrial terminal product configuration information. This service tool is used to provide configuration of the setup parameters for various IND and ICS terminals from a PC. Only one instance of this application may be running at a time.

2.1. InSite CSL Overview

The InSite CSL Configuration Tool is an application for the PC that can be used to save the values of various setup parameters in the terminal and restore them at a later date or copy configuration into other terminals. A typical screen from the InSite CSL Configuration Tool is shown in Figure 2-1.



Figure 2-1: Configuration Tool

In order to be able to use InSite CSL, the technician must first be authenticated by the dashboard. If the use of InSite CSL is permitted, the dashboard will present the icon to launch the application. In addition, special product permissions are controlled through the DSM Technician Dashboard user administration. In some cases, a user may not be permitted to have full configuration access to certain products.

(D							1	inSite	- C	onfig	urat	ion 1	Fool ((IND5	60)		-	
	-	Hon		Optio	ins														00
				Te	rminal	IN	D560	*	Rev.	1.X	x	U	ser				2 Read	×	
N	ew	Open	Save	Ap	plication	No	ne	٠	Rev.			M	odule	None		*	Connect Unite Settings	Exit	
		File							Tern	ninal							Connection	Exit	
1	Save					*													
	Load					*													
	Scale					\$													
	Applica	ation			1	*													
	Termin	nal				¥													
	Comm	unication	ı			\$													
	Mainte	enance				\$													
Rea	dy																File		00

Figure 2-2: Authenticated version

When fully authenticated, InSite CSL may be used to perform the following:

- Extract the current configuration from a connected terminal and save it as a file locally
- Load a saved configuration into a connected terminal
- Load new firmware
- Create a configuration offline
- Connect to a terminal and change configuration
- Modify templates with special editor
- Access protected diagnostic service

2.2. Supported Devices

For a list of devices supported by the current release of InSite CSL, please refer to the **Release Notes** document.

2.3. Starting the software

Starting InSite CSL application is strictly controlled through the technician dashboard – unlike any other Windows application. Upon starting, InSite CSL will confirm that the dashboard was used to launch it and request information regarding the identification and rights of the technician.



Figure 2-3: InSite CSL Icon

2.4. Screen layout overview

Figure 2-4 gives an overview of layout of InSite CSL. The various areas used in the tool are indicated.

/ Toolbar tabs	Product selection frame	Confiauration frame
	InSite- Configuration Tool (IND5	60) – 🗆 🗙
Home Options		00
New Open Save Instantion Inc.	560 • Rev. 1.XX • User	Connect A Name Settings
File Application	Terminal	Connection Evit
	T CHIMINAI	Connection
Save *	Save Files From	n Terminal
Gustom Files	-End-	Status
	/	
-		
-		
\ \		
		_
	Esc	Start
Load ¥	Saved Output File Name	
Ready		File
Tree	irame System line	
	Figure 2-4: InSite CSL Overv	liew

The following sections describe the use of each of these areas.

2.4.1. Toolbar tabs

The toolbar tabs (Figure 2-5) allow selection of different tool button frames. The home tab contains **File**, **Terminal**, and **Connection** tool button frames.

Ho	me (Options					
		Terminal	IND780	Rev. 6.XX	User	E Read	×
New Open	Save	Application	None	• Rev.	Module None -	Connect 📇 Write Settings	Exit
File				Terminal		Connection	Exit

Figure 2-5: Toolbar tabs - Home

The options tab (Figure 2-6) contains the **Others** tool button frame. This frame contains tool buttons for firmware upgrade and other special features. The Print frame is used to configure and print the configuration report.



Figure 2-6: Toolbar tabs - Options

2.4.2. Product selection frame

The **Terminal** frame (Figure 2-7) includes a drop-down menu for selecting the terminal type. The Application drop-down menu allows selection of any currently available optional application programs installed on the terminal. The user security access level is displayed based on the login performed during the connection procedure. Selection of the connected product is required before a Save procedure in order for InSite CSL to determine what communication method must be used.

Terminal	IND560	٠	Rev.	1.XX	-	User		
Application	None	÷	Rev.		-	Module	None	*
			Term	ninal				

Figure 2-7: Product selection frame

2.4.3. Tree frame

The Tree frame (Figure 2-8) changes content based on the product selected and the features available. At a minimum it will show 2 tree items:

- Save
- Load

Once the tool is authenticated, additional items will be shown based on the product selection. Typically this includes:

- Scale
- Application
- Terminal
- Communication
- Maintenance

Selecting each of these items displays the relevant information in the tree and configuration frame. These are used to navigate to associated screens in the Configuration frame.



Figure 2-8: Tree Frame

2.4.4. Configuration frame

The **Configuration** frame (Figure 2-9) displays information related to the selection in the tree frame and / or the toolbar tool button function.

	Save Files From Te	rminal	×
File Name	Size (KB)	Status	
	-End-		
	Esc	Start	
Saved Output File Na	me		

Figure 2-9: Configuration Frame



The content of the Configuration frame varies for different InSite CSL operations.

Figure 2-10: Save and Load Configuration Frames

Save	×	Capacity Increment	×
Load	×		
Scale	*	Primary Units kg 🖌	
Type Capacity & Increment Calibration		# Ranges 1	
E-Zero		> 1 < 50 X 0.01 kg	
Units Filter		> 2 < X kg	
Stability Log or Print MinWeigh		> 3 < X kg	
Reset		Blank Over Capacity 5 d	
Application	×		
Terminal	*	Apply	
Communication	*		
Maintenance	*		

Figure 2-11: Scale Capacity Configuration Frame

2.4.5. System line

The first section in the system line (Figure 2-12) shows the operation status. The second section shows the progress bar of operations performed. The third section shows the connection parameters while connected (example: IP address of the terminal or the offline filename). The TX and RX lights blink when data is written to or read from the terminal, respectively.



3 Authentication

This chapter covers

- DSM Overview
- DSM access
- InSite CSL file options

The DSM (Device Service Management) platform provides rights management, authentication and file management services for METTLER TOLEDO service tools, including this version of the InSite tool. In order to use the advanced features of InSite and the file management functions of DSM, the user must connect and successfully login to the DSM server periodically through the Technician Dashboard.

3.1. DSM Overview

The DSM platform manages METTLER TOLEDO PC based service tools and technician information. It uses the service tools to exchange information with devices that are isolated from direct, external communications for various reasons.

3.1.1. DSM Features

In this version of the InSite tool, the 3.x version of the DSM api.dll has been implemented. This version has the following features:

- Device must be created using dashboard before service events and files can be stored
- Verification of user rights
- Storage of device configuration files
- Addition of device configuration service events
- Added further InSite service events
- Search and retrieval of device configuration files (based on service provider territory)

3.2. InSite CSL DSM Access

The user interface for DSM version 3.x is supplied through the Technician Dashboard. This application must be used to start InSite and validate the user. The InSite tool itself no longer provides a mechanism to login and gain access to the DSM server. The user rights are passed to InSite through the dashboard and there are options to restrict access as follows:

- No restrictions (full access to all terminals and features)
- No access to MT Service Security (access to all terminals and other features)
- Customized access (access to selected terminals / features)

Customized access allows user rights to be defined for specific products and/or features. Selections for these rights include:

- Individual terminals and terminal applications access
 - Selection of terminals allows the user to perform disconnected / connected configuration of the terminal. (Save / Load of all terminals is always permitted.)
- MT Service Security access
- Firmware Upgrade access (Flash Download)

Periodically the user will be required to re-authenticate through the dashboard.

3.3. InSite CSL File Storage

Connectivity between InSite and the DSM server provides file management benefits. InSite uses the dashboard's file service to upload saved configuration files and retrieve stored files.

Files sent to the DSM server use a specific naming convention:

Product_serialnumber_datetimestamp.ipz

So, for example, a configuration file saved at 12:00:00 on October12, 2009 for an IND780 terminal with a serial number 1234566KK would be named:

IND780_1234566KK_20091012120000.ipz

This naming convention is used ONLY for the copy of the file that is stored on the DSM server – it has been designed so that multiple configuration files for the same terminal can be archived safely. However, the user can rename the copy of the configuration file stored locally.

The configuration file itself is a zipped file of all configuration data selected during the save terminal file process. Any zip utility can be used to unzip it and extract files (change the file extension from .ipz to .zip) if InSite is unavailable for some reason.

Files are saved to the server automatically when the Save Terminal File operation is performed as long as a network connection to the server can be made. Otherwise, it gets placed in a queue until the next time a connection is made.

3.4. InSite CSL File Retrieval

Once files have been stored on the DSM server by a user, they can be searched and retrieved at any point through the Technician Dashboard. InSite CSL no longer has direct access and requires the file to be copied on local media. For the dashboard to retrieve a file, connection to the DSM server must be made first. Files can be found by selecting the Device tab.

TR	schnician Dashb	ward					
	Daubhoard	Customer	Desire	File Viewer	User Settings	Frontion	
	8 8		6 7				
A	dd Edit	Clear Device	Freit				
De	vice Device	Filter History	Work sheet				
	Serial Number	Model Name	Customer ID	Description	Asset Number	Configuration	
		IND 780					
_	05162011	IND 790		IND780			
-	05172011	IND780		IND780			
	05182011	IND780		INO780			
_	123456789	IND 780		IND 780			
	555556	IND 780		IND780			
	5598358K	IND780		IND 780			
	5538458K	IND 780		IND780			
	OKE>	IND 780		IND780			
_	2008105	IND 780	Test				
Μ	ETTLE	R TOL	EDO				InSite
Data D	Connicad Complete						•.

Figure 3-1: Device Tab

Devices listed here may have associated service events recorded in the Device History data. Devices are listed by Serial number and model type. Selecting a specific device and clicking the Device History tool button will open a dialog window with all the service events for that particular device.

Device His	tory			
Serial I Model:	Number: 555556 (IND780	Customer	ID:	
	Event	Technician	Reference	Date
•	Service Tool File Upload	NA3521	780batch3.ipz	4/28/2011 7:2
	Service Tool File Upload	NA3521	IND780_5555	5/10/2011 10:
	Service Tool File Upload	NA3521	IND780_5555	5/10/2011 10:
Note: Y an ever	ou must be connected to the ir	nternet to r	eceive further	details about
	(Exit		

Figure 3-2: Device History

If the event is a service tool file upload, the reference field contains a link to the saved file. By clicking on this field (the filename in the Reference column), the dashboard starts its process to retrieve the selected file. It will automatically place the file in its own subdirectory structure when connection to the server is made and the file is received. This process can take a few minutes and happens in the background. Files for InSite are stored in the path for the dashboard under the tool, technician ID, and model.



Figure 3-3: File Location

For example, if a file is retrieved for an IND780 that was stored by technician NA3521, it will be placed in:

C:\Program Files\Mettler Toledo\DSM\InSIte\NA3521\IND780

At that point, the normal InSite CSL Load Terminal File operation can be performed by browsing to the retrieved file's location.

4 Save/Load

This chapter covers

Save operation

Load operation

The InSite Save and Load operations allow the user to transfer the configuration contents from the terminal to a file on the PC. Once saved, the information stored in this file may be restored into the same terminal or loaded into other terminals.

4.1. Save Terminal File

InSite's Save operation establishes a connection with a terminal, retrieves the configuration data, and stores this data as an .ipz file on the PC. The contents of the saved file are dependent on the terminal's typical configuration data. For example, the IND780 uses .dmt files to store configuration shared data. It also has .csv files for tables & logs.

4.1.1. Save Procedure

To begin the save, follow these steps:

1. Select the terminal type for this save.



Figure 4-1: Terminal Selection

2. Configure the connection settings that should be used to communicate to the terminal. This is product-dependent, and can involve either COM port settings and/or IP address information. The COM port selects which port is used by InSite on the PC and should be used for serial communications. The IP address should be entered to match the connected terminal's IP

address and should be used for Ethernet communications. Not all terminals support both communication methods. Make sure valid FTP username and password entries have been placed in the connection settings for these. InSite will be unable to retrieve the data from the terminal if an invalid, an unauthorized, or no username is entered and the process requires them.

	InSite- Configuration Tool (IND780) – 🗖 🗙
Home Option	s 🕑 🛈
Terr	ninal IND780 • Rev. 6.XX • User
New Open Save App	lication None Rev. Module None Connect Settings Exit
File	Terminal Connection Exit
Save	*
Load	*
Connectio	n Settings x
- E Serial	Port
Port	СОМЗ
Baud Rat	te 4800 👻 Parity Even 👻
Data	Eight 🗴 Stop
Etherr	net
Ethernet	IP 172.18.54.80 Port 1701
FTP Use	r admin
Passwor	d *****
	Esc OK Default
Ready	Fie

Figure 4-2: Port Configuration

3. Open the Save tool in the tree frame.



Figure 4-3: Save Tool in Tree Frame

Don't forget to unlock the terminal with the MT Service Security **before** saving if you wish to include special diagnostic data – like the PDX_Performance log – in the saved information! 4. Select the information desired for the save. As items are selected they will appear in the configuration frame to the right. Selections in the tree are product dependent so this view will vary based on the product selection.

Home Options	InSite- Configuration	Tool (IND780)		
New Open Save	ND780 Rev. 6.XX User one Rev. Kev. Module Terminal	None -	Connect & Write Settings	
Save &	Save	Files From Terr	ninal	×
Save All All DMT Files VAI DMT Files VEEPROM PRM All Lop Files Alb I lop Files Albi Change Change	File Name Flash.dmt EEPROM.dmt BRAM.dmt	Size (KB)	Status	
Load ×	Saved Output File Name	-	Start	
Ready			File	0

Figure 4-4: Selecting Items to Save

5. Once the save items are selected as desired, start the save process by clicking Start.

	InS	Site- Configuration T	ool (IND780)		- 🗆 X
Home Options					0 0
Termina	IND780 - R	ev. 6.XX 🔻 User		Read 1	×
New Open Save Applicat	n None - R	ev. • Module	None -	Connect 🖧 Write Settings	Exit
File	1	Terminal		Connection	Exit
Save	*	Save	Files From Tern	ninal	*
Save All	File Name Flash.dmt EEPROM.dmt		Size (KB)	Status	
EEPROM BRAM	BRAM.dmt		-End-		
Maintenance Change Error PDX_Performance	e				
G _ Al Tables					
Load	Saved Outp	Esc		Start	
Ready				File	00

Figure 4-5: Starting the Save Process

6. A dialog window will appear, prompting for a name to give the file generated by the Save process, and to save it. Enter the name and select a location, then click Save to begin.

Save in: ConfigurationFiles Conf	(Save As		InCito Cor	ficuration	- Taal (IND	???>		- = x
My Documents		Save jn: With Recent Documents Desktop My Documents	Configurations	iles	• 0	3 22 11 0		S Read 1 Exit	
File game: I Save My Computer Save as type: Inste Project (*jpz) Cancel Esc Start Load Saved Output File Name		My Computer	File game: Save as type:	l Inste Project (*.ipz) Saved Output File M	Lame	v v sc	Save Cancel	itart	

Figure 4-6: Filename Entry

- 7. InSite will begin the process to collect the required data for the Save. A login screen may be presented if the terminal requires user / password information to access setup. In certain cases, both a shared data username and password and an FTP username and password will be required to get access to the data needed. Make sure the correct username and password is given when prompted!
- 8. As information is transferred from the terminal to InSite, the status will be updated in the view in the configuration frame. Once all information is received, the save file will be created.
- 9. Once the Save is completed, close the Save window in the configuration frame to use other InSite features.

4.1.2. Using Saved files

Files created by the Save process are named with the extension .ipz. This unique extension is used so that InSite can identify them and use them for its Load process. However, they are in fact .zip files, and can be opened with software that manages files of that type.

4.2. Load Terminal File

InSite's Load operation takes a saved file and sends its contents to a connected terminal. The Load process has a variety of selectable levels of terminal checking. These selections establish what set of rules InSite uses when it compares the saved file to the connected terminal.

Load Selection	InSite Check
Match All	Terminal firmware revision, application, & module settings must match
Match Terminal / Application	Terminal & application settings must match, but revision & module may be different
Match Terminal only	Only the terminal type must match
No match required	No match is required

Table 4-1: Load Selection Options

4.2.1. Load Procedure

To begin the load operation, take the following steps:

1. Select the terminal type for this load (this is only to establish the connection settings that will be used).

D	Home	Ontions		InSite	- Configu	iration 1	ool (IND780)		-	•	×
New	Open Save	Terminal Application	IND780 None	rev.	6.XX +	User Module	None		Connect & Write Settings	Exit Exit		
Save		3										
Ready									File		0	0

Figure 4-7: Terminal Selection

2. Configure the connection settings that should be used to communicate to the terminal (this is product dependent and can involve either COM port settings and/or IP address information). The COM port selects which port is used by InSite on the PC and should be used for serial communications. The IP address should be entered to match the connected terminal's IP address and should be used for Ethernet communications. Not all terminals support both communication methods. Make sure valid FTP username and password entries have been placed in the connection settings for these. InSite will be unable to retrieve the data from the

terminal if an invalid, an unauthorized, or no username is entered and the process requires them.



Figure 4-8: Port Configuration

3. Open the Load tool in the tree frame.

	InSite- Configuration Tool (IND780) - 🗖						
	Home	Options				0 0	
		Terminal IND780	• Rev. 6.XX • User		Read 1	×	
	New Open Save	Application None	* Rev. * Module	None -	Connect 🖧 Write Settings	Exit	
	File		Terminal		Connection	Exit	
	Save	*					
\frown	Load	 ¥					
	David.				et.	00	
	Ready				rie	00	

Figure 4-9: Load Tool in Tree Frame

4. Select which type of load selection is required, and select the Project file (stored .ipz file) to use.

Image: Sevent of the sevent	Home	Options	InSi	e- Configuration	Tool (IND780)		-	•	x
Save Load Files To Terminal • Match All (Terminal/Rev, Application (No 1 • Match Terminal/Application (No 1 • Match Terminal only • No Match Required File Name	New Open Save	Terminal INC Application Non	0780 - Re e - Re	v, <mark>6.XX +</mark> User v, + Module	e None 👻	Connect & Write Settings	Exit		
Save Load Files To Terminal Load All (Terminal/Rev, Applica Match All (Terminal/Application (No Match Terminal only No Match Required	File		Te	rminal		Connection	Exit		_
Load Project File: Match All (Terminal/Rev, Application (No I) File Name Match Terminal/Application (No I) No Match Required	Save	*		Loa	id Files To Term	inal	-		
Match All (Terminal/Rev. Application (No I Match Terminal/Application (No I Match Terminal only No Match Required	Load	*	Project File:						
Esc Start	Match All (Terminal Match Terminal/Ap) Match Terminal only No Match Required No Match Required	VRev, Applica plication (No) j j	File Name	Esc		Size (K3) Status			
	landu					Tile	_	0	0

Figure 4-10: Selecting Load Selection Option

5. InSite will then open the saved file and list its contents in the Load view in the configuration frame. Click on Start to begin the Load process.

	InSite- Configuration Tool (IND780)		- = x
Home Options			0 0
New Open Save Application Non	780 * Rev. 6.XX * User e * Rev. * Module None *	Connect 🚓 Write Settings	Exit
File	Terminal	Connection	Exit
Save ×	Load Files To Term	inal	×
Load *	Project File: C:\Program Files\Mettler Toledo\InSite5\Con	figurationFiles\Test1a.ipz	
Match All (Terminal/Rev, Applica)	File Name	Size (KB) Status	
O Match Terminal/Application (No I	Flash.dmt	85	
Match Teminal only	EEPROM.dmt	4	
No Match Required	Standard A1.csv	1	
	Standard_A2.csv	1	
	Esc	Start	
Ready		File	00

Figure 4-11: Starting the Load Process

6. A login screen may be presented if the terminal requires user / password information to access setup. In certain cases, both a shared data username and password and an FTP username and password will be required to get access to the data needed. Make sure the correct username and password is given when prompted!

7. As the configuration data is sent to the terminal, the status information will be updated in the Load view. If all information is sent successfully, the view will be cleared. Once the Load is completed, close the Load window in the configuration frame to use other InSite features.



IT IS STRONGLY RECOMMENDED THAT POWER TO THE TERMINAL BE CYCLED AFTER LOADING NEW CONFIGURATION DATA TO INSURE THAT ALL CHANGES ARE APPLIED AND TAKE EFFECT IN THE TERMINAL'S OPERATION.

5 Disconnected Mode

This chapter covers

- Disconnected mode features
- Recommended usage

Once authenticated, the InSite tool can be used to create configuration files without a terminal. In order to unlock access to these special features, the user must connect and successfully log in to the DSM server periodically through the Technician Dashboard, and the user credentials must include rights to this functionality (based on product selections).

5.1. Disconnected Functionality

If authenticated for access to this functionality, the InSite tool will include the configuration tree selections in addition to the Save Terminal File / Load Terminal File choices for a particular product. This access can be provided on a product-by-product basis.



Figure 5-1: Configuration Tree Selections

To use InSite in the disconnected mode, use the navigation frame to select the desired configuration section. Once the section is expanded, a view of the tree is shown (Figure 5-2). From the tree, individual configuration branches may be selected. These pages are then shown in the configuration frame.

Home Options	InSite- Configuration Tool (IND560)	- = x 0 0
New Open Save InSite File	30 * Rev. 1.XX * User * Rev. * Module None Terminal	Connection
Save Terminal File > Load Terminal File > Scale (*) Capacity & increment (*) Calaration (*) Calaration (*) Pitter (*) Stability (*) Log or Print (*) MinWeigh (*) Reset (*) Communication (*) Maintenance (*)	Scale Type An Scale Type An Approval No	ale 1 alog ¥ ne ¥
Ready	Default	00

Figure 5-2: Tree View

All configuration tree and frame contents are based on specific product definitions. Configuration information, configuration selections and operation are detailed in the specific product's technical documentation.

Any configuration parameter with a white background can be changed; those with a light or slightly darker blue background are read only – either because of access rights or restricted use as defined by another parameter selection. Many configuration fields have qualified entry checks. InSite may reject unacceptable data entries or selections in those cases.

5.1.1. Unique Disconnected Mode Features

Because the InSite tool cannot verify the terminal's hardware in the disconnected mode, the configuration information includes extra parameters to define what optional hardware is available for some terminals. For example, in products that support multiple scale types, there will be a selection (as opposed to a read only field when connected) to choose the type of scale on which the configuration should be based. This selection can affect several other configuration parameters. It is up to the user to ensure that the appropriate hardware selections are made for disconnected configurations.



IT IS IMPORTANT TO NOTE THAT INSITE DOES NOT SAVE AN ENTIRE CONFIGURATION IMAGE IN THE DISCONNECTED MODE – ONLY CHANGES ARE SAVED.

As changes are made to the disconnected configuration, InSite keeps track of **all** changes, and **only** the changed information. Once the changes are complete and the user saves the InSite file, only the changes to the configuration are saved.

5.2. Disconnected Mode Usage

The disconnected mode is useful for creating configuration files when the terminal is not available. The user may pre-configure any known setup information without access to hardware. Then, when the terminal is available, the saved information can be written to it using connected mode. This allows users to create configuration data at their own convenience.

ONLY BCF (InSite files) may be used or opened in the disconnected mode.

In addition, saved InSite files can be used to clone common application data for terminals with different hardware. Because portions of the configuration data will be different, a complete save/load would not be appropriate. Since the disconnected mode saves only the changed information, a file containing only the appropriate changes could be made and written into all terminals.

6 Connection Settings

This chapter covers

Connection settings

In order to communicate to a connected terminal, InSite must be configured to use either a COM port for serial communications or an Ethernet IP address and port for an Ethernet socket connection. The section provides details on the steps needed to make these selections.

6.1. Settings

The Settings tool button provides access to the communication parameters used by InSite for the product selected in the Terminal frame. Some terminals can only support one method of communication based on hardware and software capabilities.

6.1.1. Changing Settings

To define the connection parameters to use, take the following steps:

1. Select the terminal type for this connection.



Figure 6-1: Terminal Type Selection

2. View the current settings by clicking on the Settings tool button.

	(9 •)			InSite	e- Configu	ration T	ool (IND	780)		- = x
Y	Home	Options							\frown	0 0
		Terminal	IND780	• Rev	. 6.XX -	User			E Read	×
New	Open Save	Applicatio	n None	* Rev		Module	None	•	Connect 📇 Write Settings	Exit
	File			Ter	minal				Connection	Exit
Save			*							
Load			*							
	G							4		
	Conr	ection Set	tings				/	<		
		erial Port								
	Por			-						
	Bau	d Rate	4800	▼ P	arity Ever		*			
	Dat		Eight	• S	top		*			
	VE	thernet								
	Eth	ernet IP	172.18.54.80	P	ort 170					
	FTF	User	admin			Ξ.				
	Pas	sword	*****							
			Eas				afault			
Ready		~	ESC				elault	-	Ela	00

Figure 6-2: Port Settings

3. If Serial / Ethernet selections are both available, chose which type of communication should be used.

T	Connection Se	ettings					x
-	Serial Por)					
	Port	COM1	-				
	Baud Rate	115200	-	Parity	None	•	
	Data	Eight	-	Stop	One	•	
(Ethernet						
	Ethernet IP	192.168.0.1		Port	1701		
	FTP User	admin					
	Password	****					
		Esc		OK		Default	

Figure 6-3: Connection Type Selection

- 4. For an Ethernet connection, enter the IP address and port of the **terminal**. InSite will use this to establish the socket connection to it. The FTP user/password information is used when FTP access is required for file transfers. The default user/password is admin/admin.
- 5. For a serial connection, select the PC com port and port configuration data. InSite will use this information to control the PC COM port during serial communications with the terminal. InSite can use USB to serial port adapters that have been configured on the PC. It will display any serial port it can use in its selection list. Typically, the USB driver must be installed (rather than using the generic one) in order for the connection to work.

6.1.2. Terminal Connection types

For a list of devices supported by the current version of InSite, please refer to the **Release Notes** document.

7 Connected Mode

This chapter covers

- Connected mode features
- Recommended usage

Once authenticated via the dashboard, the InSite tool may be used to connect to the terminal directly and change its current configuration, read its current configuration and save it as an InSite configuration file, or write saved InSite configuration files into the connected terminal. In order to unlock access to these special features, the user must connect and successfully log in to the DSM server periodically through the Technician

Dashboard. The user's credentials must include rights to this functionality (based on product selections).

7.1. Connected Functionality

Like the disconnected mode, if authenticated for access to this functionality, the InSite tool will include the configuration tree selections in addition to the Save Terminal File / Load Terminal File choices for a particular product. This access can be provided on a product-by-product basis. Any product that can be used in the disconnected mode can also be used in the connected mode. To use InSite in the connected mode, use the terminal toolbox frame to select the desired terminal selection. Make sure the settings are correct for the connection (see chapter 6 for details), then click on the Connect button in the Connection toolbox frame to establish communication with the terminal.



Figure 7-1: Connect Button

Some products may request login information before the connection is completed.

🖉 Login to SDS					
User admin Password					
Esc OK					

Figure 7-2: Login Dialog

Either valid username/password information (as previously configured in the terminal) or the default username must be entered to advance to the next step in the connection process. The default username for a factory-configured IND560/IND560x or IND780 is admin (all lower case) with no password.

Once connected, use the tree view in the navigation frame to view or make changes to the current configuration of the connected terminal.



Figure 7-3: Navigation Frame

Contents of the tree and configuration frame window are product-specific but typically follow the same general organization with five main sections: Scale, Application, Terminal, Communication, and Maintenance.

7.1.1. Reading Configuration from a Terminal

Not all parameters are read when a terminal is connected to the tool: only relevant parameters are read as the user navigates through the nodes in the tree frame. This was done as a concession to those who wish to connect and change only a few parameters, since reading all configuration data can be quite time-consuming. However, after connecting the user can choose to read all the values from the terminal.



Figure 7-4: Read Button

The Read tool button in the Connection section can be used to initiate the read all data operation. It is important to remember to do this when it is desirable to save the entire terminal configuration to a file.

For the IND560/IND560x and IND780, for security reasons the user and FTP tables are not read. The default values for these tables are kept as part of the saved file. If the terminal has special configuration in these tables, the saved file must be modified to include this special configuration as part of the saved file otherwise the configuration file may have the typical terminal defaults saved here in its place.

7.1.2. Review / Change Configuration

Often, the InSite tool must send the terminal both the changed information and a trigger to make the new configuration take effect. The new terminal values are written after the changed parameter loses focus. In order to "write" to the terminal, navigate away from the changed data by clicking on another parameter or another page.

There are a few exceptions to this: Read/write tables are updated every time the user leaves the table view. In some special, the use of an "apply" button is required. InSite also writes when the page is switched if the page contains a single setup parameter.

7.1.3. Saving Terminal Configuration (InSite File)

To save the connected configuration of a terminal, follow these steps:

- 1. Connect to the terminal
- 2. Read all data
- 3. Save the configuration (as the required filename)

This saved file does **not** contain the user and FTP data unless modified via the tool. These files are saved as InSite files with the '.bcf" file extension and cannot be restored via the USB backup/restore process. The write method must be used when InSite is in its connected mode.

7.1.4. Writing Terminal Configuration

When a terminal is connected, parameter values in a saved configuration (.bcf) file can be uploaded to the terminal using the **Terminal I Write all data to terminal** menu command.

The operator will be given the option for the IND560 and the IND780 to write the configuration file with or without the user and FTP tables.



IT IS STRONGLY RECOMMENDED THAT POWER TO THE TERMINAL BE CYCLED AFTER LOADING NEW CONFIGURATION DATA TO INSURE THAT ALL CHANGES ARE APPLIED AND TAKE EFFECT IN THE TERMINAL'S OPERATION.

7.2. Special Operations

User & FTP Tables:

 When the Write All command is used, InSite confirms whether the user & FTP tables should be included The connected mode allows the user to perform some special operations like using the template editor, editing softkeys in a special window, performing firmware upgrades, accessing special service information, and printing the configuration information.

The username and passwords for the Users and FTP tables are handled differently from other configuration data in IND560 and IND780. These tables cannot be read from the terminal. However, they can be reset or modified – the write operation is allowed. When the "read all" operation is performed, the password information is not included. When the "write to terminal" operation is performed, the user is asked whether these tables should be included. "Yes" will overwrite the terminal's existing tables with those stored in the offline file (either the default tables or the modified tables if they have been changed in the offline file). "No" will restore everything except these tables.

7.2.1. Template Editor

The Template Editor can be accessed from inside the InSite tool in two ways: through the Template Editor tool button on the Options tab or through the tree "view" selection of the output templates.



Figure 7-5: Template Editor Button

	24190	InSite- Configur	ation Tool (IND780)		- = x
Home C	Options				0 0
	Terminal IND780	* Rev. 6.XX *	User	2] 表Read 1]	×
New Open Save	Application None	* Rev. *	Module None -	Connect 🖧 Write Settings	Exit
InSite File		Terminal		Connection	Exit
Save Terminal File	×				
Load Terminal File	*				
Scale	*				
Application	*				
Terminal	*				
Communication	*				
Templates Input Output Configure View View Serial Serial Network PLC Interface					
Maintenance	*				
eady			Default		00

Figure 7-6: Template View in Tree

Connected Mode

Once selected, the Template Editor replaces the navigation frame and toolbar frame with its own contents.



Figure 7-7: Template Contents Viewed

Please refer to Chapter 8 for details on using the Template Editor.

7.2.2. Softkeys

Softkeys can be dragged and dropped into the empty softkey locations in the special softkey layout window found in the Softkeys node in the Terminal tab of the tree frame.



Figure 7-8: Softkeys View

7.2.3. Firmware Upgrades

The various terminals' Firmware can be upgraded using the Flash Download function found on the Options tab.

			InSite CSL	(IND780)			-		x
Language English	Flash	erminal Notes Info Others	MT Service Template Security Editor	Configuration H	teader and Print Footer Print	Page Setup			0
Save Terminal File Load Terminal File Scale Application Terminal Communication Maintenance	* * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * *								
Ready		i i		Default				0	0

Figure 7-9: Flash Download Button

Depending on the type of terminal, this procedure may launch a separate application, Flash Magic (Figure 7-10), that handles the upgrade process, or it may start a dialog in the configuration frame to control the firmware file selection and communication to the terminal.

🏶 Flash Magic - NON PRODUCTION US	E ONLY						
<u>File I</u> SP <u>O</u> ptions <u>T</u> ools <u>H</u> elp							
🖻 🗟 🔍 🗿 🐗 🗸 📕 🔈 💙 I	ع 😮 😫						
Step 1 - Communications	Step 2 - Erase						
COM Port: COM 1	Erase block 0 (0x000000-	0x000FFF)					
Baud Rate: 19200 🗸	Erase block 1 (0x001000- Erase block 2 (0x002000-	0x001FFF) == 0 0x002FFF)					
Device: LPC2378	Erase block 3 (0x003000- Erase block 4 (0x004000-	0x003FFF)					
Interface: None (ISP)	Erase block 5 (0x005000)	0x005FFF)					
Oscillator Freq. (MHz): 11.0592	Erase all Flash+Code F	Rd Prot					
Usenador Fred. (mr.12). j Friedole	Elase blocks used by r	nex File					
Over On Herr File							
Step 3 - Hex File							
Hex File: C:\Work\Test\Firmware\IND131V0_	13x10_0ct_08.hex	Browse					
Modified: Friday, October 10, 2008, 4:	19:14 AM more inf	<u> </u>					
Step 4 - Options	Step 5 - Start!						
🔲 Verify after programming 🔲 Set Code Read	Prot S	tart					
Fill unused Flash							
Execute							
Download free 8051 and XA code examples using I2C, CAN, Flash, etc.							
www.esacademy.com/fag/progs							

Figure 7-10: Flash Magic Window

		InSit	e- Configuration Tool (IND560)		- = x
Home	Options				0 0
Language English	Flash Tr Download	erminal Notes MT S Info Se Others	Service MT-DSM Template Configuration curity Security Editor	Header and Footer Print Page Setup Print	
Save Terminal File	*		IND560 Firmware Dov	Inload	×
Load Terminal File					
Scale		Product	IND560		
Application					
Terminal		Flash file			
			Start		
Maintenance					
Ready			File		00

Figure 7-11: Firmware Upgrade Dialog

For products that use FTP to load their firmware – IND780, for example – make certain that the appropriate FTP user name and password are entered in the connection section before beginning the FTP process.

C	Connection Se	ttings					x
ſ	- Serial Port						
	Port	COM1	-				
	Baud Rate	9600	-	Parity	None	•	
	Data	Eight	-	Stop	One	•	
	Ethernet						
	Ethernet IP	172.18.54.80		Port	1701		
	FTP User	admin					
	Password	****					
		Esc		OK]	Default	

Figure 7-12: Ethernet Connection Information for FTP Login

It is also important to remember that many terminals require a special switch setting and power cycle operation in order to make the terminal ready to accept firmware upgrades. Consult the technical documentation of the specific terminal for details on the required process. Once the operation is complete, close the firmware upgrade window to exit it and access other configuration functions.



DON'T FORGET TO BACK UP THE TERMINAL'S CONFIGURATION BEFORE PERFORMING THE FIRMWARE UPGRADE. USE THE SAVE/LOAD PROCESSES TO SAVE AND THEN RESTORE THE SETUP INFORMATION.

7.2.4. MT Service Security

For products that support it, the new MT Service Security section of the InSite tool is used to unlock access to special diagnostic service information. This is information that is NOT available via open

communications and requires an encrypted exchange of information between the InSite tool and the terminal before the terminal will permit access to its protected data.

	InSite CSL (IND780)	- = x
Home Options		0 0
Language English Flas Download	Terminal Jotes MT Service Template Configuration Info Security Editor Print Page Setup Footer Print	
Save Terminal File 🛛 🕹		
Load Terminal File 🛛 🗧		
Scale 🛛 🕹		
Application 😵		
Terminal 🛛 🕹		
Communication 🛛 🕹		
Maintenance 🛛 🕹		
Ready	Default	00

Figure 7-13: MT Service Security Button

Please refer to Chapter 9 for details on the MT Service Security operation.

7.2.5. Configuration Reports

Once the terminal has been configured, the configuration data can be printed from the InSite tool. The configuration report is generated from the Options tab, Print section in the toolbar frame.



Figure 7-14: Print Options

7-9

There are options to customize the header and footer information and configure page settings. Once these are set up, the print function is used to generate to print view, which can be saved as a file or sent to a printer connected to the PC.

The header and footer can include system information like time, date, and number of pages. Custom text can also be inserted. Be careful when choosing the header and footer size – this can make the print report very large for the more advanced terminals.

Figure 7-15 shows an example of a configuration report printout from an IND131/IND331 terminal.

etup Tree			
Product	IND131/IND331	1	
Application	None		
Version	1.XX		
Notes			
Tab	Branch	Parameter	Value
Save Terminal		-	·
File			
.oad Terminal			
File			
Scale	Type	1	
	Type	Name	Scale 1
		Approval	None
	Capacity &		
	Increment		
		Primary Units	kg
		> 1 <	1000
		Х	0.1
		x10 Always	Disabled
	Calibration		
		Base Serial Number	000000
		Linearity Adjust	Disabled
	AZM & Display		
		Auto Zero	Gross
		Auto Zero Range	0.5
	Dangos	Under Zero Blanking	Disabled
	Ranges	Duchbutton Zoro	11. 20/
	Types	Pushbullon Zero	+/- Z %
	Types	Pushbutton Tare	Enabled
		Net Sign Correction	Disabled
	Rate	Net Sign Correction	Disabled
	Tuto	Weight Units	None
		Moight Office	NONE

Figure 7-15: Sample Printout Page from IND131/IND331

7.3. Connected Mode Usage

The connected mode is required when loading a saved InSite file created in the disconnected mode (Write) to complete cloning from another terminal or loading the pre-configuration data.

This mode allows instant access to read or change individual setup parameters quickly. It also has several special operations for terminal configuration:

- Template Editor with visual layout
- Softkey layout
- Firmware upgrades
- MT Service Security
- Configuration reports

While connected sessions can be used to save the entire configuration if the Read All function is used, InSite will not include the secure FTP and User tables with its data. Use of the Save function is strongly recommended to archive the complete configuration. This process should work for **any** version – even those not yet supported in the connected / disconnected modes

Templates and configuration files created in the prior version of the InSite tool (version 4) can be used and saved into the new version of the tool.

8 Template Editor

This chapter covers

 Layout and detailed operation of InSite Template Editor The InSite Template Editor allows the user to build a Print Template. Print Templates are custom-tailored reports defined using Shared Data elements, text, and formatting commands.

The Template Editor is used to perform the following:

- Lay out the template data in a grid-based WYSWYG view
- Select one of the three possible grid widths (40 columns, 80 columns, 132 columns) based on number of characters supported by the printer
- Drag-and-Drop location / selection of items inside the template
- Insert text (fixed strings)
- Insert special characters for control codes (CR, LF, SO, SI, STX, ETX, etc.)
- Provide usage information to reflect the amount of space used in the current template
- Configure a terminal's template while connected to it
- Configure a terminal's template offline and then download it to a terminal when connected
- Extract the current templates from a connected terminal and save it as a file locally

8.1. Starting the Template Editor

The Template Editor may be accessed from inside the InSite tool in two ways: Through the Template Editor tool button on the Options tab or through the tree "view" selection of the output templates.

6				InSite CSL	(IND780)		-		2
1	Home	Options		\frown				•	
L	anguage English	Flash Download	Terminal Notes Info Others	MT Sevice Template Security Editor	Configuration Header and Footer	Print Page Setup			
	Save Terminal File	*							
	Load Terminal File	*							
	Scale	*							
	Application	*							
	Terminal	*							
	Communication	*							
	Maintenance	*							
Re	eady				Default			00	5

Figure 8-1: Template Editor Button



Figure 8-2: Template View in Tree

Once selected, the Template Editor replaces the navigation frame and toolbar frame with its own contents.



Figure 8-3: Template Contents View

The Template Editor tab contains toolbar frames to handle file operations, terminal information, connection functions, and a Close button to return to the normal InSite configuration functions.

Template Edit	or		
	Terminal IND780 • Rev. 6.XX •	Read all Templates from Terminal	×
New Open Save	Template Template 1 - Usage 4/1000	Connect 🚜 Write Template to Terminal 👻	Close
File	Terminal	Connection	Close

Figure 8-4: Template Editor Tab

The File section in the Template Editor allows templates to be created and opened, or their structure **only** to be saved as a ".tpr" file. The Terminal section contains selections for the terminal type and template. It also indicates how much of the template space has been used for the current template. The Connections section provides methods to connect / disconnect from the terminal (based on the InSite tool settings) and Read or Write templates to the terminal once connected.

The Options tab contains toolbar frames to handle view options, edit operations, and miscellaneous template information.

			C	ptions							
		T		E	5	Cut	Insert Before	2	XDelete	0	À
Sh	now Grid	Show Control characters	Select Pag Width 👻	e Wrap	Undo	Paste	insert After	Edit	Comment +	Template Info	Template Notes
		View					Edit			Oth	iers

Figure 8-5: Template Editor Options Tab

The View section controls the visual layout window view options. The user can choose to display the grid, display control characters, and control data wrapping. In addition, the window's number of characters (page width size) can be configured for 40, 80 or 132 "columns". This determines how many character positions are available inside the printable (blue) vs. non-printable (grey) areas. Keep in mind that this constraint is for design purposes – the terminal and its template do

not have such restrictions. This is always controlled by the connected printer (and its charactersper-line capabilities).

The Edit section controls the editing options in the design window. The Others section contains the miscellaneous information about the template and a place to record user notes.

Once the design window options are configured as required, the toolbox selections that replaced the tree in the navigation frame are used to populate the template with text and shared data reference variables.



Figure 8-6: Template Editor Toolbox Selections

8.2. Adding Text to a Template

There are two ways of placing text or shared data into the template:

- Click on the object in the toolbox; the InSite Template Editor will place that object in the current focus location of the template.
- Drag and drop an object into any "valid" position in the template.



Figure 8-7: Template Text Entry, Object Parameters Displayed

Once the object has been placed in the layout grid, its parameters will appear below the grid. This information is object-dependent, but includes formatting information like alignment and width. It is also possible to include line feed characters after the object. Once the parameters are configured as desired, the OK button is used to confirm and complete the object entry. ESC is used if the object's entry should be ignored and the template returned to its prior state.

8.2.1. Text Object Types

The InSite Template Editor has five different types of text objects:

- String
- Repeat String
- Special Character
- Line
- New Line.

The String object allows a user-specified string of text to be defined. The Repeat String is identical to the String object except it includes a field to indicate how many times the string should be repeated. The Special Character object is used for non-printable control characters like SOH, SI, SO, and FF. The Line object is used when a divider line of characters (such as dash or star) is needed. The New Line object is used when extra line feeds (CR/LF) are desired.



Figure 8-8: Text Objects

8.2.2. String

The String object for InSite Template Editor has three parameters:

- Text
- Alignment
- Width.

A line feed can also be included at the end of the string.

String	No.: 10/16
Text New String	
Alignment Default 🗸	Width 40 Insert Line Feed
	Esc OK

Figure 8-9: String Parameters

Text is used to enter the desired string. Alignment options are left, center and right. The width is used to pad or trim the desired data. The InSite Template Editor will default the width value to the size of the entered text and will display the entered text in the layout window once the object has been added. An inserted line feed object is indicated by the paragraph symbol (¶).

		InSite- Co	onfiguration To	ol (IND560)		- = x
Template I	Editor Option	5				00
	Terminal IND	560 • Rev. 3.XX	- 21	Read all Templates from	Terminal	
New Open Sav	e Template Tem	plate 1 • Usage 178/10	000 Connect	👯 Write Template to Term	inal + Close	
File		Terminal		Connection	Close	
		0	kg ¶			
String		New String 0	kg N¶			1
Repeat St		- End -				
Special Ch	aracter					
Line						
NewLine						
Shared Data						•
My Data		<				>
		String				No.: 10/16
		Text New S	tring			
		Alignment Defaul	lt 🗸	Width 40	Insert Line Feed	
			E	sc OK		
Ready			File			

Figure 8-10: String Objects with Line Feed Objects Displayed

8.2.3. Repeat String

The Repeat String object for InSite Template Editor has three parameters:

- String
- Alignment
- Width

A line feed can also be included at the end of the string.

New Repeat String No.: 12/17
String New String x I Insert Line Feed
Alignment Default 🚽 Width 11
Esc OK

Figure 8-11: Repeat String Parameters

String is used to enter the desired text and number of times it should be repeated. Alignment options are left, center or right. The width is used to pad or trim the desired data. The InSite Template Editor will default the width value to the size of the entered text and will display the entered text in the layout window once the object has been added. An inserted line feed object is indicated by the paragraph symbol (¶).



Figure 8-12: Repeat String Object

8.2.4. Special Character

The Special Character object for InSite Template Editor has one parameter:

• Character.

A line feed can also be included at the end of the string.

Special Chara	Special Character					
Character	*	*	Insert Line Feed			
	01H - SOH 02H - STX	^				
	03H - ETX 04H - EOT		Esc OK			

Figure 8-13: Special Characters Parameter

The Character selection box is used to pick from the available special characters. This list includes hex values and an abbreviated character name. An inserted line feed object is indicated by the paragraph symbol (¶). The special character is indicated by a box symbol (\Box) in the design window once it has been added.



Figure 8-14: Special Character Indicated by Box Symbol

8.3. Adding Shared Data to a Template

The Shared Data toolbox contains objects to place a new shared data variable reference in the template. In addition, as shared data fields are used, the toolbox will keep a few of the most recent ones.



Figure 8-15: Shared Data Objects

The Shared Data object has several parameters:

- Shared Data
- Alignment
- Width

A description of the shared data is included for the template designer. Alignment options are left, center or right. The width is used to pad or trim the desired data. The InSite Template Editor will default the width value to the maximum character size of the shared data variable. **Warning**: In some cases, this can be quite long! A line feed can also be included at the end of the string. An inserted line feed object is indicated by the paragraph symbol (¶).

Local Shared Data	No.: 1/20
Shared Data ak0101 Description	Unicode String Fields 1
Alignment Default 👻 Width	10 Insert Line Feed
Leading Zero Esc	OK

Figure 8-16: Shared Data Parameters

8-10

A shared data name selection window can be opened by clicking on the ellipsis button (...) beside the shared data entry box. This provides a list of available shared data variable names and their descriptions for users who are uncertain which variable to use.

Channed Manuar Calls attion		= ~
Shareunameseleculori		• •
Instance 1	Class Name Dynamic Shared Data	*
Discrete Input Edges (DE) Remote Discrete Input/Odput Remote Discrete Input Goges(F System State)/DI Logged-In Users(XL) Dynamic Weight Display Comm Dynamic Weight Display Comm System Command(R) Reyboard Routing Commands(P) Dynamic Statuse(R) TaskCopert Application State at Application Dynamic Statuse(P) Application Dynamic Reading P Application Dynamic Reading P Application Dynamic Reading P	Unicode String Fields 1[Ak0100] Unicode String Fields 2[Ak0102] Unicode String Fields 3[Ak0103] Unicode String Fields 3[Ak0103] Unicode String Fields 3[Ak0105] Unicode String Fields 3[Ak0105] Unicode String Fields 7[Ak0107] Unicode String Fields 7[Ak0107] Unicode String Fields 7[Ak0108] Unicode String Fields 7[Ak0109] Unicode String Fields 7[Ak0110] Unicode String Fields 7[Ak0111] Unicode String Fields 7[Ak0113] Unicode String Fields 17[Ak0113] Unicode String Fields 17[Ak0113] Unicode String Fields 17[Ak0113] Unicode String Fields 17[Ak0115] Unicode String Fields 15[Ak0115] Unicode Strin	
Search Done.		OK

Figure 8-17: Shared Data Selection Window

8.4. Using My Data

The My Data toolbox contains copied or cut sections of template data that can be saved and pasted into other templates in the InSite Template Editor.



Figure 8-18: My Data Objects

These items can be renamed by right clicking them and selecting rename from the menu options.



Figure 8-19: Renaming a My Data Object

Note that only the last 10 items are stored in the My Data toolbox, so if more than 10 cut or copy operations are performed, the earliest clipped data will be overwritten.

9 MT Service Security

This chapter coversMT Service Security Features

Once authenticated, the InSite tool may be used to unlock access to terminals' special diagnostic features. Not all terminals support this feature – only those like the IND780 with protected diagnostic data.

For products that support it, the new MT Service Security section of the InSite tool is used to unlock access to special diagnostic service information. This is information that is NOT available via open communications and requires an encrypted exchange of information between the InSite tool and the terminal before the terminal will permit access to its protected data.

9.1. Using MT Service Security

MT Service Security can be used in both connected and disconnected mode. Operation differs slightly between the two modes. In both cases, click on the MT Service Security button in the Others section of the Option tab to access these features.

	InSite CSL (IND780)	- = x
Home Options	\sim	0 0
Language English Fla	sh Terminal Notes Info Others	
Save Terminal File	*	
Load Terminal File	*	
Scale	*	
Application	*	
Terminal	*	
Communication	*	
Maintenance	*	
Readv	Default	00

Figure 9-1: MT Service Security Button

If a terminal is connected while working with MT Service Security, the InSite tool will read the required security information from the terminal. At this point, it will also show the status of the terminal's security (locked or unlocked) and provide a command button to allow the opposite operation (unlock if locked, lock if unlocked). Once the command button is clicked, the InSite tool will exchange the security information needed and update the status and command button.

A		InSite- Configurati	on Tool (IND780)		- = x
Home	Options				0 0
Language English	Flash Download Inf	inal Notes MT Service MT-DSM security Security Others	Template Configuration	Header and Print Page S Footer Print	etup
Save Terminal File	*		MT Service Securi	ty	×
Load Terminal File					
Scale					
Application		Lock String	zyxj5	rjv3d435rz	
Terminal		Serial Number	0057	20514	
		Senarivariber	00578	BBOKK	
Maintenance		Key String	ejm4		
			Locked		
			Unlock		
Data read successful			Terminal IP:172.18.5	4.80,1701	00

Figure 9-2: MT Service Security Unlock Button

If it is not possible to connect to the terminal, the MT Service Security function can still be used to unlock the terminal. In the disconnected mode, the InSite tool will provide an entry box for the lock string. This information must be acquired from the terminal's maintenance section. Enter in the string that the terminal displays and click on the Create Key button.

		InSite- Configuration Too	ol (IND780)	- = x
Language English	Coptions Flash Download Info Oth	Notes MT Service MT-DSM Templat Security Security Editor ers	e Configuration Header and Footer Print Page Setup	
Save Terminal File	×	MT S	ervice Security	
Scale Application		Lock String	123dgrt123	
Terminal Communication		Serial Number		
			Create key	
Ready		File		00

Figure 9-3: Create Key String

The InSite tool will generate a key string as long as the data is valid AND the serial number of the terminal is not blank (this value is embedded in the lock string data). The key string must then be entered at the terminal in order to unlock it.

To return to other configuration functions, close the MT Service Security window. Once the terminal is unlocked (from either method), the protected service information can then be viewed and edited.

Don't forget to lock the terminal once at the end of the session. If the diagnostic information is to be saved, first unlock the terminal using this process, then perform the save.

A Terminal Connection

This appendix covers

- Terminal wiring and connection information
- Firmware updates

This Appendix provides specific information on terminal connection setup and wiring for operation with the InSite Configuration Tool.

A.1. IND131 / IND331

A.1.1. Configuration & Save/Load

Connection to InSite is only possible using COM1 of the terminal.

- 1. Enter setup of the terminal and select Variable Access as the assignment for COM1.
- 2. Confirm the connection settings in InSite.
- 3. Connect an RS-232 cable between the terminal and PC wired as shown below.

IND131/331 COM1 Terminal	PC 9-Pin Connector		
TxD ┥	→ 2		
RxD ┥	→ 3		
Gnd ┥	→ 5		

Figure A-1: RS-232 Connection to IND131/IND331 Terminal

After connection between InSite and the IND131/331 has been terminated, enter the terminal's setup tree and change the assignment for COM1 to the appropriate settings. Remember to change the serial port settings as well, if necessary. Power cycle the terminal.

A.1.2. Flashing new Firmware

Refer to "Upgrading Firmware" section in Chapter 4 of the IND131/IND331 Technical Manual for a complete explanation of the required steps.

A.1.3. Using the SD memory card

InSite now allows you to read the configuration of an IND131/IND331 terminal from the file saved on an SD memory card. Once imported, the configuration may be modified, saved back to the SD memory, and loaded into the terminal.

In disconnected mode, both TXT files and normal BCF files can be selected. Figure A-2 shows the file selection dialog.

	_	InS	ite Configuration T	ool (IND131 33	1)		-	= x
Home	Open					? 🛛		
	Look in:	Configuration	files	v G (• 🖽 💙 🏚		X	
New Open Sa InSite File Save Terminal File	My Recent Documents	FILE_01.TXT FILE_10.TXT				5	Exit Exit	
Load Terminal File Scale Application	Desktop							
Terminal Communication Maintenance	My Documents							
	My Computer	File name: Files of type:	Text Files (*.bd) BCF files (*.bcf)		 ✓ ✓ 	Open Cancel		
			Text Files (*.bd) (All files (*.*)					
Ready				Default				00

Figure A-2: File Selection Dialog

Once the file is opened, the configuration can be modified in the same way as any normal BCF file. Changes can then be saved as either a BCF or TXT file, for future loading into the SD memory card. Figure A-3 shows the Save As... dialog.

		InSi	te Configuration Too	l (IND131 331	.)		- 1	X
Home	Save As					? 🛛		0
	Save in:	Configuration Fi	les	💌 G 💋	b 📂 🎞-		X	
New Open Sa InSite File	My Recent	 560check.bcf 780dio.bcf desk780BU.bcf dio1.bcf 	myIND 780 file.bcf				s Exit Exit	
Save Terminal Fi		 ind560_1.bcf ind560_2.bcf ind560mr 1.bcf ind560mr 2.bcf 						
Scale Type Capacity & Inc Galibration Galibration Galibration Galibration Galibration Galibration Galibration Galibration Galibration Galibration Galibration Galibration Galibration Galibration Galibration Galibration Galibration Galibration Galibration Galibration Galibration Galibration Galibration Galibration Galibration Galibration Galibration Galibration Galibration Galibration Galibration Galibration Galibration Galibration Galibration Galibration Galibration Galibration Galibration Galibration Galibration Galibration Galibration Galibration Galibration Galibration Galibration Galibration Galibration Galibration Galibration Galibration Galibration Galibration Galibration Galibration Galibration Galibration Galibration Galibration Galibration Galibration Galibration Galibration Galibration Galibration Galibration Galibration Galibration Galibration Galibration Galibration Galibration Galibration Galibration Galibration Galibration Galibration Galibration Galibration Galibration Galibration Galibration Galibration Galibration Galibration Galibration Galibration Galibration Galibration Galibration Galibration Galibration Galibration Galibration Galibration Galibration Galibration Galibration Galibration Galibration Galibration Galibration Galibration Galibration Galibration Galibration Galibration Galibration Galibration Galibration Galibration Galibration Galibration Galibration Galibration Galibration Galibration Galibration Galibration Galibration Galibration Galibration Galibration Galibration Galibration Galibration Galibration Galibration Galibration Galibration Galibration Galibration Galibration Galibration Galibration Galibration Galibration Galibration Galibration Galibration Galibration Galibration Galibration Galibration Galibration Galibration Galibration Galibration Galibration Galibration Galibration Galibration Galibration Galibration G	Desktop My Documents	 ind560mr3.bcf ind560mr4.bcf ind560mr5.bcf ind560mr.bcf ind560mr.bcf ind780.bcf infochk.bcf iotest.bcf 						
Filter Stability Log or Print Reset	My Computer	File name: Save as type:	BCF files (*.bcf) BCF files (*.bcf)		~	Save Cancel		
Application	*		Text Files (*.txt) All files (*.*)					
Terminal	*							
Communication	×							
Maintenance	×							
Deader		Н		December Classes	Ada a Talada I		- Tiles ITT	00

Figure A-3: Saving the Configuration File

Please note the following:

- InSite defaults to the BCF file selection for all offline file operations.
- The IND131/IND331 terminal can only use TXT files from its SD memory card. BCF files must be 'Saved As' TXT for the terminal to use them.

- InSite does not include any special read or write functions for memory cards if the memory card can be seen by the normal file browse function (such as Windows Explorer), InSite can read or write directly to it. However, it is recommended that files are copied from the memory card to a folder on the PC before opened using InSite.
- Refer to the IND131/331 User's Guide for instructions on using the SD memory card to save and load configuration information in the terminal.

A.2. IND246

A.2.1. Configuration & Save/Load

A.2.1.1. Connection

In the IND246 terminal, the connection to InSite is supported by COM1, USB and Ethernet.

When connecting via USB, the serial connection parameters should be used. Any baud rate, data bits or parity combination can be used for COM1 and USB, provided that the InSite settings match the terminal port settings.

In order to be able to use one of these connections with InSite, the terminal must first have at least one configured connection for the selected hardware. The type of connection does not matter – InSite CSL will take control of the port automatically, providing the port is not configured as "None."

A.2.1.2. Weighing Mode

When connecting to InSite, the IND246 terminal should be in basic weighing mode, **not** in one of its application modes. There is no need to change the port connection to connect InSite – InSite will take over the port function automatically and then switch it back when disconnecting.

Note: It is important to use InSite's disconnect function; otherwise, normal port function is not restored and it will be necessary to power cycle the IND246 to recover.

A.2.2. Flashing New Firmware

A.2.2.1. File Type

To flash firmware from InSite, the file must be an **.mot** file. InSite does not support the 246A0xx.hex file type used to flash from the SD card inside the terminal.

A.3. IND560

A.3.1. Configuration & Save/Load

A.3.1.1. Ethernet

- 1. The optional COM2/COM3/Ethernet board must be installed in the IND560 terminal.
- 2. The IP address of the PC may need to be changed. Refer to the "Ethernet Connection to a PC" section of the IND560 Technical Manual, Appendix D
- 3. The IP address programmed in the terminal must be known so it can be entered in InSite.

- 4. Connect a cross-over Ethernet cable between the terminal and PC.
- 5. Confirm the connection settings in InSite are set for Ethernet not serial interface and enter the IP address of the terminal.

A.3.1.2. Serial

- 1. Serial connection to InSite is only possible using COM1 of the terminal.
- 2. Two methods can be used to program the IND560 terminal for connection to InSite configuration:
 - a. Select Variable Access as the assignment for COM1
 - b. Turn SW2-1 ON then power on the terminal. This overrides the currently selected assignment for COM1 and sets the port for access to InSite.
- 3. Choose one of the two methods above and program the IND560 accordingly.
- 4. Confirm the connection settings in InSite are set for serial interface not Ethernet.
- 5. Connect an RS-232 cable between the terminal and PC. The cable should be configured as shown below.

IND560 COM1 Terminal	PC 9-Pin Connector
TxD 🗲	→ 2
RxD 🗲	→ 3
Gnd ┥	→ 5

Figure A-4: RS-232 Connection to IND560 Terminal

After connection between InSite and the IND560 has been terminated, turn SW2-1 back off or enter the terminal's setup tree and change the assignment for COM1 to whatever is required. Remember to also change the serial port settings if required. Power cycle the terminal.

A.3.2. Flashing new Firmware

A.3.2.1. Ethernet

Refer to "Upgrading Firmware" section in Chapter 4 of the IND560 Technical Manual for a complete explanation of the required steps.

A.3.2.2. Serial

Refer to "Upgrading Firmware" section in Chapter 4 of the IND560 Technical Manual for a complete explanation of the required steps.

A.4. IND560x

A.4.1. Configuration & Save/Load

A.4.1.1. Ethernet

- 1. The optional ACM500 module must be connected to the IND560x terminal and the optional COM2/COM3/Ethernet board must be installed in the ACM500 module.
- 2. The IP address of the PC may need to be changed. Refer to the "Ethernet Connection to a PC" section of the IND560x Technical Manual, Appendix D
- 3. The IP address programmed in the terminal must be known so it can be entered in InSite.
- 4. Connect a cross-over Ethernet cable between the terminal and PC.
- 5. Confirm the connection settings in InSite are set for Ethernet not serial interface and enter the IP address of the terminal.

A.4.1.2. Serial

- 1. Serial connection to InSite is only possible using COM1 of the terminal.
- 2. Two methods can be used to program the IND560x terminal for connection to InSite configuration:
 - a.Select Variable Access as the assignment for COM1
 - b.Turn SW2-1 ON then power on the terminal. This overrides the currently selected assignment for COM1 and sets the port for access to InSite.
- 3. Choose one of the two methods above and program the IND560x accordingly.
- 4. Confirm the connection settings in InSite are set for serial interface.
- 5. The COM1 port of the IND560x is intrinsically safe and requires use of an intrinsically safe barrier. A PC and the IND560x's COM1 port cannot be connected directly!
- 6. Refer to the "COM1 Serial Port Connection" section in Appendix A of the IND560x Technical Manual for details of the required barrier and wiring details.

After connection between InSite and the IND560x has been terminated, turn SW2-1 back off or enter setup of the terminal and change the assignment for COM1 to whatever is required. Remember to also change the serial port settings if required. Power cycle the terminal.

A.4.2. Flashing new Firmware

A.4.2.1. Ethernet

Refer to "Upgrading Firmware" section in Chapter 4 of the IND560x Technical Manual for a complete explanation of the required steps.

A.4.2.2. Serial

Refer to "Upgrading Firmware" section in Chapter 4 of the IND560x Technical Manual for a complete explanation of the required steps.

A.5. IND780

A.5.1. Configuration, Save/Load & Flashing Firmware

IND780 uses Ethernet connections to do ALL configuration & firmware updates.

- 1. The IP address of the PC may need to be changed.
- 2. The IP address programmed in the terminal must be known so it can be entered in InSite.
- 3. Appropriate Ethernet cable(s) / hardware should be used between the terminal and PC.

A.6. ICS Terminals

A.6.1. Configuration and Save/Load

Please follow terminal-specific instructions for setting up and selecting the serial COM port used to connect to InSite CSL. Note that, in order to override normal serial COM port operation, ICS terminals typically must be switched to a special communication mode found within the maintenance section of the terminal's configuration menu.

METTLER TOLEDO Service

To protect your METTLER TOLEDO product's future:

Congratulations on choosing the quality and precision of METTLER TOLEDO. Proper use according to these instructions and regular calibration and maintenance by our factory-trained service team ensure dependable and accurate operation, protecting your investment. Contact us about a METTLER TOLEDO service agreement tailored to your needs and budget.

We invite you to register your product at <u>www.mt.com/productregistration</u> so we can contact you about enhancements, updates and important notifications concerning your product.

www.mt.com

For more information

Mettler-Toledo, LLC 1900 Polaris Parkway Columbus, OH 43240 Phone 800 438 4511 Fax 614 438 4900

© 2014 Mettler-Toledo, LLC Rev. 04, 01/2014